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This report is commissioned by Holland+You. Holland+You is initiated by the Dutch economic network 
in the GCC to connect business needs in the region with Dutch solutions. It aims to create a platform for 
interaction between Dutch and Gulf business stakeholders online and offline. For more information please 
visit our website www.hollandplusyou.com or contact us at hollandplusyou@minbuza.nl.
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1 INTRODUCTION

The Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) comprises six countries: Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
(Saudi Arabia) and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). These countries experienced high economic growth in recent decades 
due largely to wealth generated from abundant hydrocarbon reserves. This growth has also been accompanied by a 
globally unparalleled rise in urbanisation, infrastructure development and overall socio-economic conditions. The region’s 
population grew six-fold since 1970, with migrant workers from Asian and other Middle East and North African countries 
as key contributors.

In a region where between 65% and 95% of government revenues come from hydrocarbons, the recent slump in the oil price 
has, inevitably, had an impact across the different GCC economies. Although there is general consensus that lower oil prices 
are here to stay, at least for the foreseeable future, there are still a lot of growth opportunities in the region. Even despite 
the challenge of a continued downward pressure on government spending.

The global energy demand is set to increase by almost 50% in the period leading up to 2040 with oil and gas dominating 
the energy mix. In just over two decades, the global energy demand is estimated to grow by 47%, reaching 399 million 
barrels of oil equivalent per day by 2040. Much of this growth will continue to be concentrated in the developing world as 
industrialisation, and population growth fuel the need for energy. 

Although fossil fuels will continue to dominate the energy mix with a 78% share by 2040, the composition continues to 
change. Oil will remain the dominant fuel but its share is expected to decline to around 25% by 2040. By 2040, natural gas 
is expected to have the largest share, with close to 28% of the global energy demand (exhibit 1).

1.1 Opportunities and Challenges

The Netherlands is a leading global knowledge economy, with a longstanding history of innovation that has placed the 
country at the forefront of solving global challenges. 

As the emphasis on fossil fuels declines, it is important to outpace competitors in areas that offer new opportunities. 
Companies that are able to introduce or exploit new technologies in the oil and gas sector, such as enhanced oil recovery 
(EOR) techniques, will have a better position to compete on an international platform. As an example, Occidental Petroleum 
has developed itself by focussing on exploiting legacy fields using EOR techniques to extend the life of those producing 
fields.

In addition to EOR, companies with operating expertise in environments where there is less oil to be found (yet are able to 
produce it competitively) will be well placed in the Gulf. Many Gulf states are placing greater emphasis on energy efficiency 
(as well as EOR) which is another area that Dutch companies excel in. Companies specialising in upgrading or replacing oil 
and gas equipment should also see opportunities in the sector.

WORLD PRIMARY ENERGY DEMAND IN THE REFERENCE CASE
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Exhibit 1: Predicted world energy demand
Source: Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, World Oil Outlook 2015
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GCC OIL & GAS MARKET OVERVIEW

The GCC countries are amongst the largest oil producers in the world and significant in terms of natural gas output. Their 
energy policy actions affect energy market dynamics worldwide. Four of the GCC member states are members of the 
Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC): Saudi, the UAE, Kuwait and Qatar.

Since the exploration of oil and gas started in the GCC, government revenues have soared and the hydrocarbon sector has 
shaped their economies. The contribution of oil and gas to total GDP is approximately 50% in the GCC countries with the 
exception of the more diversified economies of Bahrain and UAE (where they represent 24% and 32%, respectively). The 
GCC economies are still heavily dependent on these resources and are susceptible to any volatilities in oil and gas prices.

2.1 Reserves

The GCC has one of the highest proven reserves of both oil and natural gas in the world (exhibits 2 and 3). The GCC states 
control just under 30% of global proven oil reserves and their petroleum sectors are of global importance. Saudi Arabia 
alone holds around 16% of global oil reserves while other GCC states together hold close to 12% (exhibit 2).

2

Exhibit 2: Global crude oil reserves by region
Source: IRENA GCC market, 2016

Exhibit 3: Global natural gas reserves by region
Source: IRENA GCC market, 2016
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Qatar is the GCC leader in the gas sector and holds about 13% percent of global natural gas reserves (exhibit 3).
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2.2 Production

Three GCC countries ranked in the top ten oil producing countries in the world: Saudi Arabia, UAE and Kuwait 
(exhibit 4). The GCC countries have the potential and ability to invest huge financial resources into oil and gas exploration 
and production, meeting the ever larger demand for petroleum and petrochemicals of growing economies, such as China 
and India. 
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Exhibit 4: 10 largest oil producers in 2014 (production in million barrel/day; reserves in billion barrels)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets, 2016

Exhibit 5: Global liquids exports by exporting region in 2013 (% in energy terms)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets, 2016

Four countries account for 85% of the natural gas production in the Middle East: Qatar, Saudi Arabia, the UAE and Iran, three 
of which members of the GCC. 
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Exhibit 6: 10 largest natural gas producers in 2014 (production in bcm, reserves in tcm)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets, 2016

Exhibit 7: Global natural gas exports by region in 2013 (% in Mtoe)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets, 2016

2.3 Consumption

Initially, the GCC economies did not consume large amounts of energy. In the global energy markets their role was shaped 
as producers, exporting the majority of domestically produced oil and gas.

However, rapid industrialisation, growing population and increasing water desalination, has caused a surge in energy 
consumption, with domestic energy demand rising on average 5% per annum during the 2000s. The GCC countries have 
overtaken major consumers such as China, India and Brazil in terms of consumption growth, thereby reducing the export 
potential. Saudi Arabia, for instance, domestically consumed nearly a third of its oil production in 2014 making it the 
seventh largest consumer of oil (exhibit 8).
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Exhibit 8: The world’s ten largest oil consumers in 2014 (million barrels per day)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets, 2016

The other GCC countries also have similar high rates of domestic consumption with per capita levels above those of other 
industrialised countries including the US, India, Russia China and Japan. Qatar has the highest energy per capita level in 
the world (exhibit 9).
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With high energy-intensive industries, such as the power and water sectors, refining, petrochemicals, and fertiliser 
industries, the industrial sector is the dominant user of energy in the GCC, accounting for approximately half of demand. 
Transport accounts for a third, and residential and commercial consumption (mainly electricity) represent a relatively 
smaller share of overall final energy consumption (exhibit 10).
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Exhibit 10: Total final energy consumption in the GCC by sector in 2013 (%)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets 2016

Exhibit 11: Breakdown of energy consumption within GCC industries in 2013 (%)
Source: IRENA GCC Markets 2016
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2.4 Government Strategy

The dominance of fossil fuels has influenced the institutional framework of the energy sector in the GCC. The GCC 
energy sectors are traditionally controlled by the state. Although domestic energy supply is mainly managed by the state, 
the opportunities for private sector participation are growing, especially in the utility sector. Growth in private sector 
participation is the result of a growing need for operational efficiency on both the supply and demand side, as well as 
creating a healthy investment climate for energy (and other infrastructure) projects.

2.5 Subsidy Reform and Pricing

There is a growing focus on reforming the heavily suppressed energy, water and food prices in the GCC. Saudi Arabia and 
the UAE are ahead of the rest with regards to raising energy prices and cutting subsidies in response to fiscal pressures 
created by the slump in oil prices. Continued reforms will have wide-ranging implications for business – particularly in 
Saudi Arabia, which is accustomed to some of the lowest fuel and utility bills in the world.

 
GCC COUNTRY SPECIFIC OIL & GAS MARKET OVERVIEW

3.1 The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Saudi Arabia) 

INTRODUCTION

Saudi is bordered by Jordan, Kuwait and Iraq in the north and Oman, Yemen and the UAE in the south. It is the second 
largest OPEC member country. Saudi has a population of over 31 million and over 3 million live in the capital, Riyadh. 
Saudi Arabia’s oil and gas earnings are reported to account for 50% of GDP, 83% of government revenues, and 90% of export 
earnings.

RESERVES

Saudi Arabia ranks second worldwide with a reported 267 thousand million barrels of proven reserves of oil which would 
account for 16% of the world’s proven oil reserves. Apart from oil the country’s other natural resources include natural gas, 
iron ore, gold and copper.

Exhibit 13: Saudi Arabia major oil and natural gas infrastructure
Source: EIA 2015 (U.S. Energy Information Administration, IHS EDIN)

3
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While the Saudi Arabia’s proven oil reserves are marginally smaller than those of Venezuela, it can claim it has easily 
accessible oil wells in large oil fields. Saudi Arabia has about 100 major oil and gas fields but more than half of its oil reserves 
are contained in only eight fields in the northeast portion of the country. The giant Ghawar field is the world’s largest oil 
field in terms of production and total remaining reserves. The Ghawar field has estimated remaining proven oil reserves 
of 75 billion barrels.

PRODUCTION

Saudi Arabia maintains the world’s largest crude oil production capacity and the country is subject to OPEC production 
quotas. OPEC values the country’s petroleum exports at 85% of its total export revenues. Saudi Arabia’s long-term goal is 
to further develop its lighter crude oil potential and maintain current levels of production by offsetting declines in mature 
fields with newer fields.

The country uses natural gas in the production of petrochemicals, so much so, that it has placed several petrochemical 
production factories close to existing oil fields to benefit from the low cost of associated gas.
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Exhibit 14: Saudi Crude Oil production, consumption and exports
Source: IEA, 2014

CONSUMPTION

Saudi Arabia is the largest oil consumer in the GCC, consuming roughly twice as much today as it did in 2000 due to strong 
industrial growth and subsidised prices. Contributing to this growth is the rising use of crude oil for power generation 
and the use of natural gas liquids (NGL) for petrochemical production. Approximately 50% of domestic energy is consumed 
in the construction and chemicals sector (exhibit 15). The current president and Chief Executive Officer of Saudi Aramco, 
Khalid al-Falih, has said that domestic liquids demand was on pace to reach more than 8 million bbl/d of oil equivalent by 
2030 if there are no improvements in energy efficiency.
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SUBSIDY REFORM AND PRICING

At the close of 2015 Saudi announced a 5-year plan to raise prices of fuels including natural gas, gasoline, diesel, and 
electricity along with water. Following the increase in energy prices in Saudi Arabia, a number of companies announced 
adverse projected impacts on their cost structures for 2016. However, the majority of these firms remain highly profitable 
even with the new price which remains one of the lowest in the world. Transport fuels were raised and given the high 
level of consumption of these fuels in Saudi Arabia, these price increases alone are estimated to have generated savings of 
around SAR16 billion (USD4.3 billion).

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

Saudi Arabia has formulated its ‘Vision for the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia’. A key element of this Vision is the development 
and implementation of the National Transformation Project. The focus is on economic objectives such as subsidy reform 
and pricing as well as social and education reforms. With some large oil projects nearing completion, Saudi Arabia is 
expanding its natural gas, refining, petrochemicals, and electric power industries. 

The ‘Saudi Arabian Long Term Strategy 2025’, includes the goal of reducing government reliance on oil revenues from 
72% of total exports to 37% between 2004 and 2024 and doubling national income during this period. The associated ‘Ninth 
Development Plan’ aims for increased participation by the private sector in the economy.

From the perspective of contractors working in the country, a key policy over the past decade has been to promote 
localisation in contracting, engineering and equipment supply, as part of plans to increase local content in project work. 
In recent years, Saudi Aramco has pushed international engineering firms to set up joint venture companies with local 
contractors and has introduced the general engineering services plus (GES+) initiative which calls on international firms 
looking to win major project work to establish in-kingdom offices with a staff of over 500.
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KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

The Ministry of Petroleum and Mineral Resources (www.mopm.gov.sa) heads all policy making and planning with 
regards to oil, gas and natural minerals. It is the governing body for companies active in these fields such as Saudi Aramco, 
together with the Supreme Council for Petroleum and Minerals. The Ministry is also involved with Petromin, the general 
petroleum and mineral organisation, and the Saudi Arabian Basic Industries Company (SABIC, www.sabic.com), where it 
oversees the petrochemicals sector and other heavy industry projects.

Saudi Aramco (www.aramco.com) is the national petroleum and natural gas company. The company is also active in the 
wind, solar and geothermal sectors which fall under its Power Systems division. The petrochemicals sector falls under 
SADARA which is a joint venture with Dow Chemicals).

Ministry of Water & Electricity (www.mowe.gov.sa) (MOWE) heads all water and electricity related matters and the 
Minister is the chairman of the Saudi Electricity Company (www.se.com.sa), responsible for providing power generation, 
transmission and distribution throughout Saudi Arabia. Its major shareholders are the Ministry of Water & Electricity (74.3 
per cent), Saudi Aramco (6.9 per cent) and public shares (18.8 per cent). The National Water Company (www.nwc.com.
sa) (NWC), established in 2008, contracts out water distribution services for individual cities to the private sector under 
management contracts.

King Abdullah City for Atomic and Renewable Energy (KACARE) (www.kacare.gov.sa), is an independent organisation 
responsible for the development of the atomic and renewable energy program in Saudi Arabia.

King Abdulaziz City for Science & Technology (KACST) (www.kacst.edu.sa) is an independent scientific organisation, 
responsible for the promotion of science and technology in Saudi Arabia. In collaboration with the Ministry of Economy 
and Planning, it developed the National Science, Technology & Innovation Plan, which promotes 15 strategic technologies, 
among others nuclear energy and fossil energy. KACST works closely together with the King Abdullah University for 
Science & Technology (KAUST) (https://www.kaust.edu.sa/en) which conducts research in the fields of solar and upstream 
petroleum engineering. 

Information on investment opportunities, tenders and other business projects can be found on the website of the Saudi 
Arabian General Investment Authority (www.sagia.goc.sa)

3.2 The United Arab Emirates (UAE)

INTRODUCTION

Since the discovery of oil in 1958, the UAE to become a modern state with a high standard of living. Roughly 40% of the 
country’s GDP is based on oil and gas output. The UAE is positioning itself as regional hub of research and innovation and 
sustainable energy. The Dubai Expo 2020 is expected to attract more than 25 million visits and have a positive impact on 
countries economy as a whole. The country joined OPEC in 1967.

RESERVES

The UAE has the world’s seventh largest proven crude oil reserves at 97.8 billion barrels as of 2015. Abu Dhabi holds the 
largest reserves in the country, estimated at 94% of total reserves, followed by Dubai with 4%, Sharjah with 1.5% and Ras al 
Khaimah with approximately 0.5%.

The UAE sources most of its oil from the Zakum field, which has an estimated 66 billion barrels, making it the third largest 
oil field in the region, behind only Ghawar Field (Saudi Arabia) and Burgan Field (Kuwait). See exhibit 16 for an overview 
of the UAE energy infrastructure.
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Exhibit 16: UAE select energy infrastructure
Source: EIA 2015 (U.S. Energy Information Administration, IHS EDIN)

The UAE also holds the seventh largest proven reserves of natural gas in the world. However, despite its rank, the country 
has become a net importer of gas since 2008. This is largely due to the use of reinjected gas in enhanced oil recovery (EOR) 
techniques and the inefficient rapidly expanding electricity grid which relies on electricity from natural gas-fired facilities. 

PRODUCTION

The UAE was recorded as one of the largest oil producers in 2015. Because the prospects for further oil discoveries in the 
UAE are low, the UAE is relying on the application of EOR techniques in mature oil fields to increase production.
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Exhibit 17: Top 10 global oil producers, million barrels per day
Source: EIA, 2014
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EOR is an expensive process, and at current prices, these projects may not be economically viable. However, the UAE 
continues to invest in future production. The Zakum oilfield has been targeted for further development. The field is the 
2nd largest offshore oilfield and the 4th largest oilfield in the world. It currently produces about 590,000 barrels per day.

The UAE has a well-developed domestic pipeline network that links oil fields with processing plants and export terminals. 
The newest export pipeline, the Abu Dhabi Crude Oil Pipeline (ADCOP), runs 236 miles from Habshan to Fujairah. This 
pipeline gives the UAE a direct link from the rich fields of its western desert to the Gulf of Oman and from there to 
global markets. Already one of the world’s largest bunkering ports, the export terminal in Fujairah will expand its storage 
capabilities significantly over the coming years. With growing refining and storage capacity as a result of a number of 
ongoing expansion projects, Fujairah is quickly becoming a critical node in a well-developed refining and export network.

The UAE has several ongoing projects that could boost the country’s natural gas production over the next several years 
to help meet the country’s growing demand. Several recent and ongoing projects—the Onshore Gas Development (OGD), 
Integrated Gas Development (IGD), and Offshore Associated Gas (OAG) projects—may increase production of the country’s 
natural gas reserves. ADNOC is pursuing a large-scale sour-gas development at the Shah field.

The UAE is also testing carbon capture and sequestration technologies to replace the reinjection of natural gas. This would 
enhance exports of natural gas, create more flexibility in oil production and provide important global environmental 
benefits. Al Reyadah, a joint venture between Masdar and the Abu Dhabi National Oil Company is the Middle East’s first 
company focused on commercial-scale projects for carbon capture, usage and storage.

CONSUMPTION

The UAE has one of the highest rates of per capita oil consumption in the world. While being a major global oil exporter, the 
UAE domestic market also relies on oil product imports to meet its domestic energy demand. Most of the UAE’s oil imports 
are of residual fuel oil, with limited imports of motor gasoline and diesel fuel.
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Exhibit 18: UAE natural gas flows (trillion cubic feet)
Source: EIA (U.S. Energy Information Administration, BP Statistical Review of World Energy, OPEC Statistical Bulletin)

Natural gas consumption in the UAE is rising. Although the country is a member of the Gas Exporting Countries Forum 
(GECF), domestic demand is likely to draw heavily on the UAE’s natural gas resources. Currently, the country both imports 
and exports liquefied natural gas (LNG) and shares international natural gas pipelines with Qatar and Oman. Advances in 
technology and growing demand have made the UAE’s reserves an economic alternative to imports from Qatar, and UAE 
has several ongoing projects that will increase the country’s production in coming years.
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SUBSIDY REFORM AND PRICING

The UAE has recently announced a program under which prices of gasoline and diesel remain administered by the 
government but are allowed to align with international levels. Although subsidised in the past, recent increases have 
seen gasoline prices nearer global levels whilst diesel prices recently have fallen. UAE electricity reforms apply mainly to 
expatriates. Natural gas, accounting for most UAE subsidies, remains subsidised.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

In 2005, the UAE became one of the first major oil-producing countries to ratify the Kyoto Protocol to the UN Convention 
on Climate Change. As part of its energy diversification strategy, the UAE is working in a variety of ways to reduce its 
carbon footprint, meet its own domestic energy needs and expand exports. The Abu Dhabi government committed an 
initial $15 billion to Masdar, the world’s largest and most comprehensive alternative energy program. 

The UAE is expanding its nuclear energy capacity to meet rapidly growing demand for electricity, due to tremendous 
growth as well as intense water desalination requirements. This reduces domestic demand for natural gas and the need for 
oil-burning power plants. A South Korean consortium was contracted to build 4 commercial reactors by 2020 at Barakah, 
the 1st is scheduled to open in 2017.

The first major cross-border energy deal between the Gulf countries, is the import of natural gas by pipeline from Qatar 
to the UAE. This pipeline, the Dolphin Project, frees Abu Dhabi’s natural gas supply for crude oil recovery and export. The 
project began delivering gas to power companies in the summer of 2007 and the UAE receives two billion cubic feet of gas 
per day.

Abu Dhabi bases contract structures on long-term, production-sharing agreements (PSAs) between state-run ADNOC and 
private actors (primarily large international oil companies) with the state holding a majority share in all projects. With the 
exceptions of Dubai and Sharjah—which have service contracts to manage their declining reserves—the smaller Emirates 
all use PSAs similar to those found in Abu Dhabi. Major international oil companies involved in the UAE oil and natural 
gas sector include Shell, BP, Total, ExxonMobil, and Occidental Petroleum—which in 2008 secured the first new concession 
offered by the UAE in more than 20 years.

The UAE’s Vision 2021 document and other individual development plans emphasise continued economic diversification, 
focusing on the growth of tourism, aviation, and financial sectors.

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Each of the seven emirates is responsible for regulating the oil industry within its borders, creating a mix of production-
sharing arrangements and service contracts. 

In Abu Dhabi, the Supreme Petroleum Council (SPC) sets Abu Dhabi’s petroleum-related objectives and policies. Given 
Abu Dhabi’s status as the central player in the UAE’s oil industry, the SPC is the most important entity in the country when 
it comes to establishing oil policy.

Abu Dhabi Future Energy Company - Masdar, www.masdar.ae, is a government-owned entity tasked with spearheading 
Abu Dhabi’s drive to become a model of sustainability regionally and worldwide by investing in clean energy and sustainable 
technology companies, developing and investing in large-scale renewable power projects such as solar and wind farms and 
the development of Masdar City, a sustainable urban development.

Abu Dhabi National Energy Company (TAQA), www.taqaglobal.com, is a government controlled energy company that 
operates worldwide and is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (ADX). TAQA is the sixth largest independent power 
producer in the world and a long-term investor committed to growth through the development, implementation and 
exploitation of energy projects. In the Netherlands TAQA is involved in the Bergermeer gas storage facility.

The Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC), www.adnoc.ae, which operates 16 subsidiaries throughout the oil, 
natural gas, and petrochemical sector - leads the day-to-day operations and implementation of SPC directives, and it is 
the key shareholder in nearly all upstream activity in Abu Dhabi. ADNOC’s subsidiaries engage in oil and natural gas 
exploration, processing, and distribution, among other activities. Some of the most notable subsidiaries are the Abu Dhabi 
Company for Onshore Oil Operations (ADCO),www.adco.ae, the Abu Dhabi Marine Operating Company (ADMA-OPCO), 
www.adma-opco.com, the Zakum Development Company (ZADCO), www.zadco.ae, and the Abu Dhabi National Tanker 
Company (ADNATCO), which operates under the same management team as the National Gas Shipping Company (NGSCO), 
www.adnatcongsco.ae.
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ADNOC distribution, www.adnocdistribution.ae, distribution, storage and transport of refined products.

The Dubai Supreme Council of Energy (DSCE), www.dubaisce.gov.ae oversees Dubai’s energy-policy development and 
coordination. The DSCE includes representatives from several key entities, including the Emirates National Oil Company 
(ENOC), www.enoc.com, the Dubai Petroleum Establishment (DPE),  www.dubaipetroleum.ae, and the Dubai Nuclear Energy 
Committee (DNEC), www.dubaisce.gov.ae. Dubai’s natural gas sector operates similarly to its counterpart in Abu Dhabi. 

Natural gas production and regulation are the responsibilities of the individual emirates and are often carried out under 
the same leadership as their oil sectors. ADNOC leads Abu Dhabi’s natural gas sector through its subsidiaries, with the 
exploration and production of natural gas resources carried out by ADCO and ADMA-OPCO, as in the case of oil.

The Abu Dhabi Gas Industries Limited Company (GASCO), www.gasco.ae, created as a joint venture between ADNOC, 
Shell, Total, and Partex, oversees processing Abu Dhabi’s onshore natural gas, as well as the associated gas recovered from 
onshore oil operations. 

Abu Dhabi Gas Liquefaction Limited (ADGAS), www.adgas.com/en, controls the production and export of Abu Dhabi’s 
liquefied natural gas (LNG) and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG). 

Abu Dhabi Gas Development Company Limited (Al Hosn Gas), www.alhosngas.com, which is responsible for the 
development of the sour-gas reservoirs in the Emirate’s large Shah field. Al Hosn Gas is a joint venture between ADNOC 
and Occidental Petroleum Company.

Abu Dhabi Oil Refining Company (TAKREER), www.takreer.com, refining of crude oil, production of chlorine and 
related chemicals, sulfur granulation.

Abu Dhabi Petroleum Ports Operating Company (IRSHAD), www.irshad.ae, operations of oil exporting ports such as 
Ruwais and Jebel Dhanna.

Abu Dhabi Water and Electricity Authority (ADWEA), www.adwea.ae, researches and develops ways to more efficiently 
produce, distribute and consume water and electricity.

Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA), www.dewa.gov.ae, providing the population of Dubai with electricity 
and water. 

The Dubai Natural Gas Company Limited (DUGAS), www.dugas.ae, oversees engineering, construction, management, 
and operation of Dubai’s natural gas infrastructure.

Emirates Nuclear Energy Corporation (ENEC), www.enec.gov.ae, working to deliver safe, clean, efficient and reliable 
nuclear energy to the UAE grid by 2017.

EPC Consultants & Contractors - The EPC field (engineering, procurement, construction) is highly competitive with 
most major players present and well established in the UAE. Among the consultants present are Foster Wheeler, Fluor, 
SNC Lavalin, Technip, Mott Mac- Donald, WorleyParsons Engineering, Tecnicas Reunidas, Veco Engineering, Petrofac and 
J Ray McDermott. Among the larger contractors present are companies such as Technip, Fluor, GS Engineering, Saipem 
Hyundai, Daewoo, Samsung, and large local contractors (for example Al Jaber and the National Petroleum Construction 
Company (NPCC)).

Federal Electricity and Water Authority (FEWA), www.fewa.gov.ae, catering to the needs of electricity and water for 
the population of the Northern Emirates. 

Petroleum Institute (PI), www.pi.ac.ae, is a university in Abu Dhabi, established in 2001 with the aim of training the 
local oil and gas engineers. The institute is funded by five major oil companies: ADNOC, Shell, BP, Total, and Japan Oil 
Development Company. Currently, 1200 students study at PI. A major goal of PI is to be a renowned research centre in the 
field of oil and gas.

Sharjah Electricity and Water Authority (SEWA), www.sewa.gov.ae/en, generating and distributing electric- ity, water 
and gas to the population of Sharjah.

Information on investment opportunities, tender and other business projects can be found on the website of the Abu Dhabi 
Chamber of Commerce & Industry (www.abudhabichamber.ae) and the Dubai Chamber (www.dubaichamber.com).
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3.3 Qatar

INTRODUCTION

Relative to the other GCC countries, Qatar has an abundance of natural gas resources. Given its small population, Qatar’s 
energy needs are met almost entirely by domestic sources. Although Qatar is a member of the Organization of the 
Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC), the country is the second-smallest crude oil producer amongst the 12-member 
group. Qatar’s earnings from its hydrocarbon sector have been reported to account for 56% of GDP, 60% of government 
revenues, and 90% of export earnings.

RESERVES

With a reported 872 trillion cubic feet, Qatar has the third largest proven reserves of natural gas in the world (exhibit 19) 
and nearly all of Qatar’s reserves are in the country’s North Field, which is part of the world’s largest natural gas deposit 
(exhibit 20, see next page), together Iran’s South Pars and Qatar’s North Field comprise the entire deposit. Qatar holds the 
thirteenth largest oil reserves in the world (exhibit 21, see next page). 

Country Trillion cubic feet

Russia 1,688

Iran 1,201

Qatar 872

United States 338*

Saudi Arabia 294

Turkmenistan 265

United Arab Emirates 215

Venezuela 197

Nigeria 180

China 164

Exhibit 19: Top 10 countries with proven natural gas reserves
Source: EIA 2015 (U.S. Energy Information Administration, Oil and Gas Journal)
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Exhibit 20: Qatar selected energy infrastructure
Source: EIA 2015 (US Energy Information Administration, IHS EDIN)

Exhibit 21: Middle East reserves of oil (billion barrels), 2015
Source: EIA 2015 (U.S. Energy Information administration, Oil and Gas Journal)
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PRODUCTION

Qatar is one of the top dry natural gas producers in 2013 (behind the United States, Russia, and Iran) and is the largest 
exporter of liquefied natural gas (LNG) in the world. Qatar is also at the forefront of gas-to-liquids (GTL) production, and the 
country is home to the world’s largest GTL facility. The growth in Qatar’s natural gas production, particularly since 2000, 
has also increased Qatar’s total liquids production, as lease condensates, natural gas plant liquids, and other petroleum 
liquids are a significant (and valuable) byproduct of natural gas production.

The country is one of the smaller crude oil exporters within the OPEC member states. However, the increase in production 
of non-crude liquids – most of which are a byproduct of natural gas production – is contributing to the gradual growth 
in total liquids production. Qatar’s crude oil and lease condensate production ranks 17th in the world, with most of the 
country’s production sent abroad as exports (exhibit 22).

The $10.4 billion Barzan Gas Project should boost Qatar’s natural gas production from the North Field in the near term. 
The project consists of both onshore and offshore developments, including offshore platforms, pipelines, and a natural gas 
processing unit. Announcements by government officials and ExxonMobil indicate that the project–which began in 2011–
will begin operations at the end 2016.

Oil exploration activity in Qatar is ongoing, although not to the degree seen in other oil-producing countries. Qatar’s oil 
production comes from just a few fields, led by Al Shaheen, Dukhan, and Idd al-Shargi, which combined account for more 
than 85% of the country’s crude oil production capacity. The latest major discovery in Qatar came in 1994 (the Al Rayyan 
field), and any supply growth in the near term is likely to come from increased output at Qatar’s existing fields, particularly 
through the use of enhanced oil recovery (EOR) techniques. Operators have already used enhanced EOR techniques in 
several fields, including Al-Shaheen, Dukhan, Bu Hanine, and Maydan Marjam.
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Exhibit 22: Qatar total oil supply and petroleum consumption (thousand barrels per day)
Source: EIA 2015

CONSUMPTION

As Qatar’s economy growth so does overall energy demand. Natural gas consumption has almost tripled between 2003-
2013 and continues to rise. Much of the consumption of natural gas is accredited to the electricity and water (desalination) 
sectors. Production has kept up with domestic energy demand and the country is able to export most of its liquid fuels 
production.

SUBSIDY REFORM AND PRICING

The Qatari government last increased gasoline and diesel prices in 2011 and recently raised electricity and water charges 
in 2015. Qatar’s vast natural gas reserves and emphasis on gas exports, likely make it one of the best placed GCC countries 
to weather the current fall in oil prices.
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The impact of global oil prices has manifested itself in the cancellation of major downstream petrochemical projects in 
Qatar. In addition, whilst forecasts project inflation to stay at manageable levels in the medium term, the threat of inflation 
volatility (due to the unprecedented investment programme related to the 2022 FIFA World Cup) remains.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

Qatar’s National Vision 2030 and National Development Strategy (2011–2016) foresee a dominant role for hydrocarbons 
in the future economy but also provide a gradual and managed diversification strategy with greater involvement of the 
private sector. 

Qatar is seen to have focussed its natural gas development on integrated, large-scale projects linked to LNG exports or 
downstream industries that use natural gas as a feedstock. These projects tend to include investment from international 
oil companies (IOCs) with the technology and expertise in integrated large-scale projects, including ExxonMobil, Shell, 
and Total.

In the oil sector, while Qatar Petroleum (QP) owns and operates the onshore Dukhan field and the offshore Maydan Mahzam 
and Bul Hanine fields, IOCs operate the remaining offshore fields via production sharing agreements (PSAs). To increase 
production and reserves and to mitigate natural gas-related capital expenditures, QP offered more favourable terms for 
PSAs in recent years. In the wake of declining oil and natural gas prices, QP announced a restructuring program in June 
2015 aimed at cutting costs and increasing efficiency. It is too soon to understand the long-term effects of the restructuring 
program, although the effects are expected to have a significant impact on how QP does business, both domestically and 
internationally in all energy sectors.

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Qatar Chemical Company (Qchem), (www.qchem.com.qa) is a joint venture between Qatar Petroleum (51%) and Chevron 
Phillips Chemical International and Qatar Holdings (49%) and has established world-class petrochemical plants capable of 
producing high density and medium-density polyethylene.

Qatar Chemical and Petrochemical Marketing and Distribution Company (Muntajat), (www.muntajat.qa) holds the 
rights to purchase, market, distribute and sell Qatar’s production of chemical and petrochemical regulated products to the 
global market. Muntajat has opened their global headquarters in the Netherlands in 2013.

Qatar Fertilizer Company (QAFCO), (www.qafco.com) is owned by Industries Qatar (75%) and Yara Netherlands (25%). 
This joint venture company produces chemical fertilisers and took the first steps in Qatar’s industrial diversification 
program to utilise its abundant natural gas resources.

Qatar Gas Operating Company Limited (Qatargas), www.qatargas.com, the consortium includes QP, Total, ExxonMobil, 
Mitsui, Marubeni, ConocoPhillips, and Shell. It operates four major LNG ventures (Qatargas I-IV), and Ras Laffan Company 
Limited (RasGas), www.rasgas.com, which operates three major LNG ventures (RasGas I-III), lead Qatar’s LNG sector. Each 
venture has an individual ownership structure, although QP owns at least 65% of each. RasGas is 70% owned by QP and 30% 
owned by ExxonMobil. The two LNG companies handle all upstream to downstream natural gas transportation themselves, 
while the Qatar Gas Transport Company (known as Nakilat), www.nakilat.com.qa, is responsible for shipping Qatar’s LNG.

Qatar International Petroleum Marketing Company (Tasweeq), www.tasweeq.com.qa is the commercial arm of all 
hydrocarbons in Qatar, performing all marketing and sales activities.

Qatar Petrochemical Company (QAPCO), (www.qapco.com) is one of the leading producers and suppliers of ethylene 
and polyethylene from the Middle East to the global market.

The state-owned Qatar Petroleum (QP), www.qp.com.qa, controls all aspects of Qatar’s upstream and downstream oil 
and natural gas sectors, including exploration, production, transport, storage, marketing, and sale of crude oil, natural gas, 
natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, gas-to-liquids (GTL), refined products, and petrochemicals and fertilisers. 

Shell, www.shell.com, (although not a national company) has invested close to USD 20 Billion into Qatar, with developments 
like PEARL GTL, the world’s largest gas-to-liquids plant. Shell also participants in projects such as the petrochemical site 
Al Barzan.
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3.4 Oman

INTRODUCTION

Oman is the largest oil and natural gas producer in the Middle East that is not a member of OPEC. Its proximity to the 
Arabian Sea, Gulf of Oman and Arabian Gulf gives Oman a strong position in the global energy supply chain. The country 
has planned to use its strategic location by building an oil refining and storage complex near Duqm, which lies outside the 
Strait of Hormuz. 

Oman, like the other GCC countries, is heavily reliant on its hydrocarbons industry. According to the Central Bank of 
Oman, Oman’s hydrocarbons industry was responsible for 62.4% of government revenues and 20.9% of GDP in 2015.

RESERVES

Oman is the 7th largest proven oil reserve holder in the Middle East. The country is an important oil exporter and exports 
a substantial amount of its oil to Asian markets, with a large percentage going to China.

There are reports indicating undiscovered energy resources in the South Oman Salt Basin totalling more than 370 million 
barrels of oil, 315 billion cubic feet of natural gas, and more than 40 million barrels of natural gas liquids. With its robust 
reserves, undiscovered energy sources, rising production and a growing petrochemical sector, it is unlikely that Oman will 
drastically change its reliance on hydrocarbons.

Exhibit 23: Oman major oil and natural gas infrastructure
Source: EIA 2016 (U.S. Energy Information Administration, IHS EDIN)

PRODUCTION

Oman’s production is for an important part driven by enhanced oil recovery (EOR) techniques and additional production 
gains as a result of new discoveries. Occidental Petroleum is Oman’s largest independent oil producer. Other significant 
firms include Shell, Total, Partex, BP, CNPC, KoGas, and Repsol. New developments include Circle Oil’s announcement of 
the offshore Block 52 with 7 billion barrels of oil and Occidental Petroleum’s Block 53 which could produce roughly 44 
million of barrels of oil each year.

In recent years Oman combined the Oman LNG and Qalhat LNG companies, streamlining the country’s liquefied natural 
gas (LNG) sector. Oman currently exports LNG from two liquefaction facilities, however rising domestic demand could 
restrict the available supply for exports.
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Oman has two operating refineries, Mina al Fahal and Sohar, with a combined capacity of 222,000 barrels per day (b/d) and 
plans to add an additional 81,000 b/d of capacity by 2018.
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Exhibit 24: Oman petroleum and other liquids production, consumption and net exports 1996-2015 
(thousand barrels a day)
Source: EIA 2016

CONSUMPTION

Oman is the fifth largest energy consumer per capita in the world. Oman has just one international natural gas pipeline—
the Dolphin Pipeline—that runs from Qatar to Oman through the UAE. The imports through the Dolphin Pipeline are 
necessary to meet the rising level of domestic natural gas consumption, which trebled between 2004 and 2014. Rising 
natural gas consumption prompted the Oman LNG company to announce that it would divert all its currently exported 
volumes of natural gas away from foreign markets and toward domestic consumers by 2024.

SUBSIDY REFORM AND PRICING

Oman plans to increase income taxes on businesses, bringing all companies under the tax regime and to cut subsidies in an 
effort to reduce spending by 11%. The budgeted 64% cut in subsidies for petroleum products, electricity, and other goods, 
will partly be covered by the doubled gas tariffs for industrial producers and the power industry.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

The Omani Vision 2020 plans to reduce the oil sector’s contribution to GDP to an ambitious 9% by 2020, by increasing the 
non-oil production in the country. The government sees the country’s opportunity to diversify mainly in tourism and 
gas-based industries.

Due to the relatively high cost of production in the country due to difficult-to-recovery hydrocarbons, Oman’s government 
offers incentives to international oil companies (IOCs) for exploration and development activities. The government also 
enlists foreign companies in new exploration and production projects, offering generous terms for developing fields that 
require the sophisticated technology and expertise of the private sector. Given the technical difficulties involved in oil 
production, the contract terms for IOCs have become more interesting in Oman than in other countries in the region, with 
some allowing notable equity stakes in certain projects.

In March 2014, Oman signed a memorandum of understanding with Iran on a natural gas import contract. The deal is 
worth $60 billion over 25 years beginning in 2017 and will deliver 10 billion cubic meters of natural gas per year through 
a pipeline under the Gulf of Oman.



OIL & GAS

23

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

Ministry of Oil and Gas (MOG), www.mog.gov.om, coordinates the government’s role in the Omani hydrocarbon sectors. 
Final approval on policy and investment; however, rests with the Sultan of Oman. 

Oman Gas Company (OGC), www.oman-gas.com.om, directs the country’s natural gas transmission and distribution 
systems. The OGC is a joint venture between the Omani Ministry of Oil and Gas (80%) and OOC (20%).

Oman Liquefied Natural Gas (OLNG), www.omanlng.com, owned by a consortium including the government, Shell, and 
Total—operates all liquefied natural gas (LNG) activities in Oman through its three liquefaction trains in Qalhat near Sur.

Oman Oil Company (OOC), www.oman-oil.com, is responsible for energy investments both inside and outside Oman and 
is fully owned by the government. 

Oman Oil Refineries and Petroleum Industries Company (ORPIC), www.orpic.om, controls the country’s refining 
sector and owns both of Oman’s operating refineries.

Petroleum Development Oman (PDO), www.pdo.co.om, holds most of Oman’s oil reserves and is responsible for more 
than 70% of its crude oil production, according to PDO. In addition to the government’s 60% ownership stake in PDO, Shell 
(34%), Total (4%), and Portugal’s Partex (2%) also own stakes in PDO.

3.5 Kuwait

INTRODUCTION

Kuwait ranks as one of the world’s top producers and net exporters of petroleum and other liquids. Even though it is one 
of the smallest OPEC members in terms of land mass, Kuwait exports the 10th largest volume of crude oil and condensates 
globally.

Kuwait’s oil and gas industry earnings are reported to account for 53% of GDP, 93% of government revenues, and 94% of 
export earnings. 

RESERVES

Kuwait has an estimated 102 billion barrels of proven oil reserves, the 6th largest globally and roughly 6% of the world 
total (exhibit 25). A large proportion of Kuwait’s reserves and its oil production are held in a few oil fields discovered in the 
1930s and 1950s. The Greater Burgan oil field, which includes the Burgan, Magwa, and the Ahmadi reservoirs, makes up the 
largest part of both the reserves and of production (exhibit 26). Burgan is generally seen as the 2nd largest oil-field in the 
world, after the Ghawar field in Saudi Arabia. Additional reserves of 5 billion barrels are found in the Partitioned Neutral 
Zone (PNZ), an area between the Kuwaiti and Saudi borders, which is shared on a 50-50 basis.
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Exhibit 25: Proven oil reserves (billion barrels)
Source: EIA 2014 (U.S. Energy Information Administration, Oil and Gas Journal)
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PRODUCTION

Kuwait Petroleum Corporation (KPC) has announced a $75-billion expenditure plan which would take place from 2015-
2020 for the upstream ($40 billion) and the downstream ($35 billion) sectors. The plan focusses on continued economic 
reform and funding for large infrastructure projects, including some delayed projects that were part of the previous 5-year 
expenditure plan. Kuwait intends to upgrade its production and export infrastructure, expand exploration, and build 
downstream facilities, both domestically and abroad. This effort is expected to boost total oil production capacity by 2020 
and is encompassed in ‘Project Kuwait’. It is projected that the production capacity would be maintained through 2030. To 
achieve its 2020 target, IOC investment and participation will be necessary.
 
Kuwait aims to use enhanced oil recovery (EOR) techniques methods (such as seawater and carbon dioxide injection) to 
increase the Greater Burgan’s production capacity, by tapping into the Wara reservoir.

A major part of production is currently exported to Asia. Kuwait is seeking to enlarge its downstream interests in markets 
with current or projected high demand growth such as China, Vietnam, and India.

Exhibit 26: Oil fields in Kuwait
Source: EIA 2014 (Kuwait’s Ministry of Oil)

CONSUMPTION

Like the other GCC member states, Kuwait’s domestic energy consumption is on the rise (exhibit 27). Kuwait plans to 
increase its gas production to 3 billion cubic feet per day by 2030 to satisfy the rising domestic demand and reduce the 
dependence on natural gas imports during the summer months 
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Exhibit 27: Kuwait dry natural gas production and consumption
Source: EIA 2014 (U.S. Energy Information Administration, BP Statistical Review of World Energy 2014)

SUBSIDY REFORM AND PRICING

Like many other GCC countries, Kuwait aims to curb spending and balance its budgets. A cut of approximately 20% in 
the 2015-1016 budget has largely come from subsidy reductions. Petrol prices have increased by more then 80% since 
September 1st 2016 as part of economic reforms. The new prices have been set after examining the global rates.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

Kuwait’s Vision Plan 2035 and current 5-Year Development Plan both focus on economic diversification and positioning 
Kuwait as a regional trade and financial hub. A focus pillar in the plan is infrastructure investment which includes 
transportation and a new port, and the development of the business hub ‘Silk City’ in Subiyah. 

The Supreme Petroleum Council sets all policy related to energy and is overseen by the Ministry of Petroleum. The 
policy is executed by the Kuwait Petroleum Corporation and all of the various subsidiaries. Kuwait also has an active 
sovereign-wealth fund, the Kuwait Investment Authority, which is responsible for all international investments and state 
expenditures.

Kuwaits legal framework prohibits the use of production-sharing agreements (PSAs), which would allow IOCs an equity 
stake in development projects. Instead Kuwait is using Technical Service agreements (TSAs) whereby IOCs can be brought 
in to develop technically complex projects.

KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

The government of Kuwait owns all development of the oil sector and the Kuwait Petroleum Corporation, together with its 
subsidiaries, controls the entire petroleum and other liquids sector: upstream to downstream and exports. 

Kuwait Aviation Fuelling Company (KAFCO), www.kafco.com.kw, manages the supply of aviation fuel in Kuwait. 

Kuwait Energy Company (KEC), www.kuwaitenergy.co, is a privately-held company that has developed a number of 
foreign interests over the past decade, including interests in Yemen, Egypt, Russia, Pakistan, and Oman.

Kuwait Foreign Petroleum Exploration Company (Kufpec), www.kufpec.com, manages foreign interests of KPC. 
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Kuwait Gulf Oil Company (KGOC), www.kgoc.com, manages all KPC’s PNZ interests.

Kuwait National Petroleum Company (KNPC), www.knpc.com.kw, controls the downstream sector, while the 
Petrochemical Industries Company (PIC), www.pic.com.kw, is in charge of the petrochemical sector. 

Kuwait Oil Company (KOC), www.kockw.com, the upstream subsidiary of KPC manages all upstream development in the 
oil and natural gas sectors. 

Kuwait Oil Tanker Company (KOTC), www.kotc.com.kw, oversees the oil export industry.

Kuwait Petroleum Corporation (KPC), www.kpc.com.kw, manages domestic and foreign oil investments.

Kuwait Petroleum International (KPI), www.q8.com, manages KPC’s refining and marketing operations internationally 
and controls international upstream development and downstream operations. Its operations include approximately 4,000 
retail stations across Belgium, Spain, Sweden, Luxembourg, and Italy. KPI has interests in two refineries, owning an 80,000 
bbl/d refinery in Rotterdam, Netherlands and a 50-50 joint venture with Italian oil major ENI in the 240,000 bbl/d capacity 
refinery in Milazzo, Italy.

Ministry of Oil (MOO), www.moo.gov.kw, supervises all aspects of policy implementation in the upstream and 
downstream portions of the oil and natural gas sectors.

Petrochemical Industries Company (PIC), www.pic.com.kw, responsible for the production, distribution and marketing 
of fertilisers and petrochemical products.

Supreme Petroleum Council (SPC) oversees Kuwait’s oil sector and sets oil policy. The SPC is headed by the Prime Minister.

3.6 Bahrain

INTRODUCTION

In 1932, Bahrain became the first country in the Gulf with proven petroleum reserves in commercially interesting quantities. 
Bahrain has the smallest economy within the GCC, primarily due to its small population size and its proven oil reserves. 
Bahrain is not a member of OPEC but is a member of the Organisation of Arab Petroleum Exporting Countries (OAPEC). 

RESERVES

Bahrain’s reserves are exploited by the Bahrain Petroleum Company (BAPCO), which was a subsidiary of Standard Oil of 
California (now Chevron). Although Bahrain’s oil reserves fade in comparison to a number of its GCC neighbours, the relatively 
early discovery of oil allowed the country to embark on the creation of what is now a modern oil-based economy. The country 
holds around 0.2% of world gas reserves which are expected to run out in less than 30 years with the current extraction rates.

PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION

Bahrain produces approximately 48,000 barrels per day from its only onshore field. Most of its revenues come from the 
Bahraini share of the offshore field which is controlled by Saudi Arabia. As with oil, the country is a small producer of natural 
gas. All gas production is in the hands of the Bahrain National Gas Company (BANAGAS), which is 75% state owned. All of 
Bahrain’s natural-gas production is consumed within the country, mainly by Aluminium Bahrain (ALBA). There are plans to 
increase the import of natural gas in order to meet growing domestic consumption rates.

SUBSIDY REFORM AND PRICING

Bahrain has recently raised gas prices to industrial users by 11% and has planned phased increases to 2022. In 2013, the 
government announced a program of phased increases in the price of diesel which was rested by parliament. A new attempt 
to raise prices gradually of diesel and kerosene is reportedly under way.

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY

Bahrain’s Economic Vision 2030 calls for a ‘shift from an economy built on oil wealth to a productive, globally competitive 
economy, shaped by the government and driven by a pioneering private sector’. There is a strong focus on increasing foreign 
direct investment to create jobs. By 2030, the country aims to have the financial services sector as the main pillar of the 
economy together with oil and gas, supplemented by tourism, business services, manufacturing and logistics.
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KEY INSTITUTIONS AND COMPANIES

The Bahrain Petroleum Company (BAPCO) and Bahrain National Gas Company (BANAGAS) dominate Bahrain’s hydrocarbon 
industry.

Aluminium Bahrain (ALBA), www.albasmelter.com, is one of the top 10 largest aluminium producers in the world.

Bahrain Field Development Company (Tatweer Petroleum), tatweerpetroleum.com, primary goal is to increase the 
production of oil and the availability of gas to meet the future energy demands of Bahrain, in line with the nation’s Economic 
Vision 2030.

Bahrain Mumtalakat Holding Company (Mumtalakat), www.bmhc.bh, is an independent holding company to actively 
manage and grow a diverse portfolio of commercial assets including industrial manufacturing and services, financial services, 
tourism, telecommunications, real estate, logistics, consumer, and healthcare.

Bahrain National Gas Company (BANAGAS), www.banagas.com, is responsible for processing the large quantities of 
associated gas extracted from the Bahrain Oil Field into marketable products, supply residue gas for local industrial use and 
to provide employment and training opportunities for Bahraini nationals.

Bahrain Petroleum Company (BAPCO), www.bapco.net, wholly owned by the government of Bahrain, is a fully integrated 
oil company. Its activities include oil and gas exploration and production, refining, storage and distribution of petroleum 
products and natural gas, and sales and exports of crude oil and refined products.

Mashael Petroleum, www.mashaelgroup.com, part of the Mashael Group, is licensed to trade in crude oil and petroleum 
products. They are also active in the treatment and disposal of petroleum wastes.

National Oil & Gas Authority (NOGA), www.noga.gov.bh, is the organisation responsible for all petroleum and gas related 
issues in Bahrain, with a mission of the authority is to maintain and develop the sector.
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SUPPORT FROM THE DUTCH GOVERNMENT

 The Dutch economic government network in the GCC countries offers numerous services that can help Dutch companies 
establish their business in the Gulf. The services are centered around providing market insights, identifying potential 
business partners as well as advice on establishing a business in the GCC. To strengthen this support, the network started 
in 2015 Holland+You. Holland+You is initiated to further strengthen business relationships between the Netherlands and 
the GCC countries. It aims to generate more interaction between Dutch and Gulf stakeholders, to connect business needs in 
the GCC with Dutch solutions and to create an online regional platform and business events. For more information please 
visit the website www.hollandplusyou.com.

 
TRADE REQUESTS

A trade request can be made to an affiliated Embassy and often includes questions about exporting to and investing in any 
of the GCC countries as well as requesting further information on potential business opportunities. The Embassies in Abu 
Dhabi (UAE), Riyadh (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia), Doha (Qatar), Muscat (Oman), Kuwait City (Kuwait) and the Consulate 
General in Dubai (UAE) are more than happy to assist you.

 
BUSINESS PARTNER SCAN

A business partner scan sources reputable potential business contacts in your specified target market. These business 
partners can include agents or distributors as well as manufacturing partners. For more information on the business 
partner scan and other useful services, please visit the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (RVO) website, www.rvo.nl.

 
COMPANY VERIFICATION

The Dutch Economic Network will verify that the company of interest is correctly registered with the corresponding local 
authority. Only requests from companies based in The Netherlands will be processed.

 
TRADE MISSIONS & DELEGATIONS

The Netherlands regularly organizes trade missions, delegations and joint submissions for exhibitions for and in the Gulf 
region. The GCC has several trade fairs that may be of great interest. The Dutch Economic Network supports presentations 
at international exhibitions and is able to provide current insights into local industry sectors as well as the region as a 
whole. The Network is able to advise on participation as well as identify local partners. For further information on trade 
missions and delegations please refer to the trade mission agenda on the RVO website.

 
TRADE DISPUTES

The Dutch Economic Network can provide a list of law firms that can support your business during a trade dispute. 
Common trade disputes include different interpretations of contracts and agreements as well as liability disputes arising 
from breach of local regulations and requirements.

 
ORANGE CARPET VISA PROCEDURE

This service aims to facilitate business opportunities and promote trade and investment between the GCC countries and 
the Netherlands. As such, the service processes visa applications for employees who travel frequently from GCC countries 
to the Netherlands in a timely and efficient manner. Dutch businesses that have an exclusive partnership with a GCC 
company or a business with an office in both a GCC country and the Netherlands, can register for the Orange Carpet Visa 
procedure.

To apply for an Orange Carpet visa, please contact the relevant GCC country Dutch Economic Network representative.

 
OTHER SERVICES

• Access to business contacts through the Dutch Economic Network
• Advice on law firms, legal representation and certified accountants
• Holland+You promotion
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SUPPORT TOOLS

The Dutch Economic Network liaises with Ministries and other organizations in the Netherlands. The Netherlands 
Enterprise Agency (RVO) for example, has several tools to support Dutch starts-ups and/or established businesses with 
international ambitions. Please visit www.rvo.nl for further information.

REFERENCES, USEFUL LINKS, EVENTS AND EXHIBITIONS
BROCHURE REFERENCES AND USEFUL LINKS

 – BP, Statistical review of world energy 2016 
 – Chatham House, Fuel, Food and Utilities Price Reforms in the GCC, A Wake-up Call for Business, 2016
 – Energy Information Administration, US Department of Energy, Country Focus
 – International Energy Agency, Oil Market Report, 2015
 – International Energy Outlook, 2016
 – IRENA, Renewable Energy Market Analysis: The GCC Region, 2016
 – PriceWaterhouseCoopers, Predictions for 2016 
 – Strategy&, Oil and Gas Trends, 2016
 – The Oxford Institute for Energy studies, Striking the Right Balance GCC Energy Pricing Reforms in a Low Price 
  Environment, 2016
 – United Arab Emirates Ministry of Energy, The UAE state of energy report, 2016

www.oilreviewmiddleeast.com, an online oil and gas magazine that covers the exploration and production, upstream and 
downstream petroleum industry from the Gulf Corporation Council states and Iran to North Africa and the Caspian.

www.eia.gov, the Energy Information Administration, provides information and data products covering energy production, 
stocks, demand, imports, exports, and prices; and prepares analyses and special reports on topics of current interest.

www.ogj.com,The Oil & Gas Journal, delivers the latest international oil and gas news; analysis of issues and events; practical 
technology for design, operation and maintenance; and important statistics on international markets and activity.

EVENTS AND EXHIBITIONS

 – Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition and Conference (ADIPEC), www.adipec.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE
 – Basra Oil & Gas Conference and Exhibition, www.basraoilgas.com, Basra, Iraq
 – Doha International Oil and Gas Exhibition (DIOGE), www.dioge.qatar-expo.com, Doha, Qatar
 – Doha Carbon and Energy Forum, www.dcef-qatar.org, Doha, Qatar
 – Energy Qatar, www.energy-qatar.com, Doha, Qatar
 – Gulf Safety Forum (GSF), www.goic.org.qa, Doha, Qatar 
 – Global Oil & Gas Conference and Exhibition (GOGCE, an annual event sponsored by KOC), Kuwait. 
 – International Petroleum Technology Conference, www.iptcnet.org, Doha, Qatar
 – Kuwait Oil & Gas Show and Conference (KOGS), www.kogs2017.com, Kuwait
 – Middle East Electricity, http://www.middleeastelectricity.com, Dubai, UAE 
 – Middle East Oil & Gas Show (MEOS), www.meos2015.com, Manama, Bahrain
 – Middle East Petrotech, www.mepetrotech.com, Manama, Bahrain
 – Operational Excellence in Oil, Gas & Petrochemicals Conference & Exhibition (OpEx MENA), www.europetro.com, 
  Abu Dhabi, UAE 
 – Project Qatar, www.projectqatar.com, Doha, Qatar
 – Saudi Arabia International Oil and Gas Exhibition (SAOGE), www.saoge.org, Dammam, KSA
 – Saudi Energy, www.saudi-energy.com, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
 – Society of Petroleum Engineers Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition (SPE ATCE), www.spe.org, Dubai, UAE

ABU DHABI SUSTAINABILITY WEEK

 – World Future Energy Summit (WFES), www.worldfutureenergysummit.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE
 – International Water Summit (IWS), www.internationalwatersummit.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE
 – Zayed Future Energy Prize (ZFEP), www.zayedfutureenergyprize.com, Abu Dhabi, UAE

DISCLAIMER: The designations employed and the presentation of materials featured herein are provided on an “as is” basis, for informational purposes only, without 
any conditions, warranties or undertakings, either express or implied, from the embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands Abu Dhabi, its officials and agents, 
including but not limited to warranties of accuracy, completeness and fitness for a particular purpose or use of such content. The information contained herein does 
not necessarily represent the views of the individuals of the embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands Abu Dhabi nor is it an endorsement of any project, product 
or service provider. The designations employed and the presentation of material herein do not imply the expression of any opinion on the part of the Embassy of the 
Kingdom of the Netherlands Abu Dhabi concerning the legal status of any region, country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation 
of frontiers or boundaries.
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Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Abu Dhabi
Centro Capital Centre, Building 11,
14th floor
Al Khaleej Al Arabi Street (ADNEC area)
T: (+971) 2 695 8000
E: abu@minbuza.nl
W: uae.nlembassy.org 

A: Holland+You
Centro Capital Centre, Building 11, 
14th floor
Al Khaleej Al Arabi Street (ADNEC area) 
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
E: hollandplusyou@minbuza.nl
W:www.hollandplusyou.com

Dubai, United Arab Emirates

A: Consulate General of the Kingdom
of the Netherlands in Dubai
Al Habtoor Business Tower, 31st floor
Dubai Marina
T: (+971) 4 4407600
E: dba@minbuza.nl
W: uae.nlembassy.org

A: NFIA Dubai
Consulate General of the Kingdom
of the Netherlands in Dubai
Al Habtoor Business Tower, 31st floor
Dubai Marina
T: (+971) 4 4407600
E: info@nfia-gulfregion.com
W: www.nfia-gulfregion.com

Saudi Arabia (KSA)

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Riyadh
Abdullah Hizaf Asehmi Street
(Diplomatic Quarter)
11693 Riyadh
T: (+966) 11 4880011
E: riy@minbuza.nl
W: saudiarabia.nlembassy.org

Kuwait

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Kuwait
Block 6, Street 11, House 7,
Jabriya
T: (+965) 2531 2650
E: kwe@minbuza.nl
W: kuwait.nlembassy.org

Oman

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Muscat
Way 3017, Villa 1366. 
Shatti Al Qurum
T: (+968) 24603706 / 719
E: mus@minbuza.nl
W: oman.nlembassy.org

 
Qatar

A: Embassy of the Kingdom 
of the Netherlands in Doha
Al Mirqab Tower, 6th floor 
Al Dafna 
T: (+974) 4495 4700
E: doh@minbuza.nl
W: qatar.nlembassy.org

Produced by: 

 www.aimfilms.com
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